# Minutes of the September 6, 2007 Meeting of the Board of Governors' Committee on Budget and Finance

The Committee on Budget and Finance met in the Board Room 1 of the General Administration Building in Chapel Hill, North Carolina, on Thursday, September 6, 2007, at 2:00 p.m.

Committee members in attendance were Mr. Bradley T. Adcock, Mr. Brent D. Barringer, Ms. Peaches G. Blank, Mr. G. Leroy Lail, Mr. Ronald C. Leatherwood, Mr. William G. Smith, and Mr. David W. Young. Necessarily absent was Governor James E. Holshouser, Jr. Other Board of Governors' members attending the meeting were Hannah D. Gage, Clarice Cato Goodyear, Fred G. Mills, and Irvin Roseman. Others attending the meeting were Vice Presidents Rob Nelson, Andy Willis, and Leslie Winner; Associate Vice Presidents Ginger Burks, George Burnette, Shari Harris, David Harrison, David A. King, and James O. Smith; Associate Vice President for Finance and University Property Officer Terrance Feravich; Assistant Vice Presidents Claudia Odom and Jonathan Pruitt; and Director of State Government Relations Erin Schuettpelz. Also in attendance were Chancellor Steven Ballard (ECU), Chancellor Gilchrist (ECSU), Chancellor Moeser (UNC-CH), Chancellor Meadors (UNCP), and Chancellor DePaolo (UNCW). Chair of the Faculty Assembly Brenda Killingsworth, Interim Vice Chancellor for Business Affairs Gregory Lovins (ASU), and Fiscal Research Analyst Jim Klingler were also in attendance as well as members of the press.

The first item of business was to elect Committee officers. On the motion of Ms. Blank, seconded by Mr. Barringer, Mr. Adcock was elected Chair. On the motion of Mr. Smith, seconded by Ms. Blank, Mr. Young was elected Vice-Chair, and on the motion of Mr. Smith, seconded by Mr. Barringer, Ms. Blank was elected Secretary.

After that, the minutes of the meetings of June 7, 2007 and August 15, 2007 were approved.

Vice President Nelson recognized David A. King, Associate Vice President in the Finance Division. He came to UNC General Administration from the Office of the State Auditor where he led investigative audits. He would be taking on the responsibilities of George Burnette, who was now Chief Operating Office at the North Carolina School of the Arts.

1. North Carolina State University had requested the authority to establish a new capital improvements project.

The project would construct a 1,200 square foot, research greenhouse at the Partners II Building to provide space for the College of Natural Resources' transgenic tree research program. The greenhouse was a pre-manufactured package with aluminum framing and translucent glass panels built on a brick knee wall. The new greenhouse would be placed adjacent to the existing greenhouse and connected to the existing headhouse, which would provide support space and utilities to the new greenhouse. The project was estimated to cost \$295,000. Funds were available from gifts (\$195,000) and facilities and administrative receipts (\$100,000).

It was recommended that the project be authorized and that the method of financing as proposed by North Carolina State University be approved.

On the motion of Ms. Blank, seconded by Mr. Young, the recommendation was approved.

2. The Board of Trustees of the University of North Carolina at Charlotte had requested authority to establish two new capital improvements projects.

The first project would make improvements at the Robert and Miriam Hayes Baseball Stadium including the construction of a 6,000 square foot indoor batting practice facility, the upgrading of the field lighting, the replacement of the scoreboard, and the installation of approximately 1,000 additional seats. Designer selection would occur in October 2007 and construction was planned to start in May 2008. The project was expected to cost \$2,500,000 and would be financed from private gifts.

The second project would provide additional outdoor student recreational facilities on a 24-acre site on the north side of campus. Located at the southeast intersection of John Kirk Drive and Mallard Creek Church Road, the project would construct a multi-field, multi-use facility that would include field lighting, a 1,600 square foot restroom/storage building, a 215-space parking area serving the fields, central campus, and a shuttle stop. Designer selection would occur in October 2007 and construction was planned to start in May 2008. The project was expected to cost \$4,000,000 and would be financed from a combination of cash reserves and earned interest income.

It was recommended that these projects be authorized and that the methods of financing as proposed by the University of North Carolina at Charlotte be approved.

On the motion of Mr. Smith, seconded by Mr. Barringer, the recommendation was approved.

3. The Board of Trustees of the University of North Carolina at Greensboro had requested the authority to establish a new capital improvements project.

The project would replace the windows and install a new fire sprinkler system in Weil-Winfield Hall, a three-story, 281-bed residence hall built in 1921. The existing double-hung, single-pane glass windows would be replaced with aluminum double-hung insulated glass windows. The replaced window trim would match existing historical profiles. The new fire sprinkler system would be tied into the existing fire alarm system. Work would include extending the main fire sprinkler water line to the building and reworking the existing plaster and lay-in ceiling systems. The project, estimated to cost \$1,692,700, would be funded from a combination of housing receipts (\$1,572,700) and 2007 repairs and renovations funds (\$120,000). The project was expected to be complete by the beginning of the 2008 fall semester.

It was recommended that this project be authorized and that the method of financing as proposed by the University of North Carolina at Greensboro be approved.

On the motion of Mr. Leatherwood, seconded by Ms. Blank, the recommendation was approved.

4. On August 17, 2007, the Chancellor of Elizabeth City State University informed the President of the need to invoke emergency procedures to immediately enter into two lease agreements to provide 106 beds for students who requested to live on campus for the fall semester. This action was necessary because of an unforeseen surge in enrollment at ECSU.

The State Property Office, using its emergency procedures, secured two leases for the duration of the fall and spring semesters. The first lease with Roanoke Bible College provided 92 beds at \$1,760 per bed per semester. The second lease with Venture Development Group LLC provided four units with a total of 10 beds at \$3,000 per bed per semester. Estimated at \$191,920 per semester, the total cost of the leases would be funded from student housing receipts.

It was expected that a portion of the total lease cost would not be completely offset by rents charged to the students living in these locations and would need to be funded from housing reserves. The Chancellor had provided his assurance that the Housing System had the financial capacity to handle the needed supplemental funding.

5. The 2007 non-budget legislative agenda contained items designed to implement efficiencies within the University as recommended by the President's Advisory Committee on Efficiency and Effectiveness (PACE). One recommendation was the elimination of the Annual Report on Management Flexibility. This recommendation was included in House Bill 749 and was ratified by the General Assembly and signed into law by the Governor.

Among other items, House Bill 749 repealed G.S. 116-30.6, which directed the Board of Governors to report annually to the Joint Legislative Education Oversight Committee on the results achieved under management flexibility by the special responsibility constituent institutions. Repeal of this statute eliminated the statutory requirement for the report and required a corresponding change in Board policy.

In 1991, the General Assembly granted the Board of Governors authority to give the institutions management flexibility to expend General Fund monies in the manner deemed to maintain and advance programs and services of the institutions. The management flexibility report was initially viewed as a necessary report to ensure institutional accountability. Since this change was made over 15 years ago, the PACE concluded that the report was no longer necessary as a tool for monitoring the effectiveness of budget flexibility. Proper internal controls and audits by both internal auditors and the State Auditor were more important than this report in ensuring that effective budget and financial management existed throughout the University. Additionally, the President was securing a review by external consultants of staffing and processes in place at the campuses to further ensure the effectiveness of campus operations. He was also creating a team of skilled technical and functional experts that would be available to address specific problems as they arose within the University and to provide assistance to campuses to ensure that controls were in place and that systems operated effectively.

Attached was a proposed policy change which identified the required changes in Section 600.3.1.F.3 of the Policy Manual. In accordance with the Board's procedures, the policy

change was presented for Committee vote at this meeting and would be presented for approval by the Board at its next meeting. (Attachment 1)

Effective with the current reporting cycle, it was recommended that the Annual Report on Budget Flexibility be eliminated.

On the motion of Ms. Blank, seconded by Mr. Young, the recommendation was approved.

6. In 2006, the Board authorized the President to execute leases valued up to \$350,000 and other property interests up to \$500,000. The following property transactions were approved under this delegation and were reported to the Committee on Budget and Finance.

#### The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill - Acquisition of Real Property by Lease

Use: Lease of office space for UNC-CH Career Services during the renovation of Hanes Hall

Owner: US/GT, LLC

Location: Granville Towers South, 143 West Franklin Street, Chapel Hill, Orange County

Description: Approximately 7,589 square feet of office space

Cost: \$73,993 for a six-month term

Term: Six-months

Source: 2000 Higher Education Bond funds

Approvals: The UNC-CH Board of Trustees recommended this action on June 21, 2007.

## The University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill – Acquisition of Real Property by Lease

Use: Lease of office and classroom space for the UNC-CH Center for Developmental Sciences

Owner: RCP, Inc.

Location: 100 East Franklin Street, Chapel Hill, Orange County

Description: Approximately 11,003 square feet of office and classroom space

Cost: \$231,063 for the initial year (\$21 per square foot) including utilities with 3% annual

increases. The space need was advertised and this was the lowest of the three proposals

received.

Term: Five-year initial term with one, five-year renewal option that could be executed only with

approval of the President

Source: Facilities and Administrative Receipts

Approvals: The UNC-CH Board of Trustees recommended this action on January 24, 2007.

Then the Committee received the progress report on the UNC Bond Program. Since the Board's last meeting, projects had been completed at NCCU, NCSU, UNCC, and UNCP. Awards had been made at UNC-CH, UNCG, UNCP, and WCU. Less than a dozen projects remained to be awarded. A total of \$2.395 billion in bond funding was now committed to projects completed or under design and construction, nearly 96% of the program.

The sharing of best practices continued with a meeting of the Bond Alliance via videoconference in July and another meeting hosted by NCSU scheduled in October. The Higher Education Bond Oversight Committee met on August 20, and meetings had continued with the Department of Insurance (July 17 and September 18) and the State Construction Office (August 13). Additional meetings with these agencies were focusing on the work of the State Building Commission following the Study Commission's recommendations and subsequent legislation under House Bill 73 to reduce review times of construction drawings by review agencies.

Activities with the legislature included the submission of the annual "President's Report" on the bond program and the legislature's approval of scope changes. As part of its approved budget, the legislature approved changes for ECSU to renovate Mitchell-Lewis Residence Hall in lieu of replacing it; and NCCU to reduce the scope of renovation in Hoey Administration Building while redirecting portions of this funding to the Pearson Cafeteria and Eagleson Residence Hall projects.

An updated project status overview reflecting bond program activity by institution was included with the report and reflected projects not just completed, but also administratively closed out to adequately track the program to its closure.

<u>HUB Update</u>: The contracts awarded to historically underutilized businesses (HUB) in the Bond Program were \$397 million and 16.7% of the total \$2.38 billion contracted as of this report period. The total HUB participation for all projects was 17.2% and \$623 million dollars.

After the bond program update, the Committee discussed Carolinas Associated Minority Contractors' (CAMC) allegations in the Budget and Finance Committee meeting on June 7, 2007. During the UNC Bond Program update to the Committee, the Chair recognized Ms. Kenneth Johnson, representing the CAMC, and she commented on HUB issues. Ms. Johnson, accompanied by several minority contractors, discussed several of her concerns regarding minority contractors. The Chair then requested that Ms. Johnson provide specific written information detailing those concerns so that the University could research and address each one.

## Specific Actions Taken

- 1. Since the June Board meeting, the Vice President for Finance had mailed Ms. Johnson two certified letters, one on June 8, 2007 and one on August 8, 2007, requesting that she provide specific information needed by the University to conduct a thorough investigation. The Vice President for Finance stated the University would review all information and would be transparent about the process and findings. If the University found wrong-doing, those responsible would be held fully accountable. In both letters, Ms. Johnson was asked to forward information to Shari Harris, Associate Vice President for Finance. While no response had been received from Ms. Johnson, UNC-General Administration had received one complaint from a HUB subcontractor and was trying to facilitate the resolution of that subcontractor's individual dispute as well as to understand his broader concerns.
- 2. The Finance Division had reviewed UNC records (CAPSTAT) and Department of Administration (DOA) data to determine the level and cause of contractor payment disparities. (Ms. Johnson had used DOA data to support some of her findings.) A meeting was held with the State Construction Office, the division of DOA which managed the data. First, it was determined that a data entry error in the DOA report implied a large difference in the contract awards and contract payments to African American contractors. The disparity between the two significantly different reporting systems had initiated further discussion between the two departments. It was determined that the data could not be unilaterally compared and that a number of factors led to differences in the two reports. The factors included:

- A lengthy period from when pay applications (which included an Appendix E upon which HUB
  payments were accounted) were received by the designer and forwarded to the University. The
  University processed and forwarded each Appendix E to the State Construction Office (SCO). The
  SCO at that point entered the data into their system.
- The phase of the project in which the HUB contractor was being utilized was in some cases at the end of the project and their payment would not be shown until that point in the project.
- SCO's data did not include any change orders or changes in scope of work which could alter the
  original award amount to the contractor.
- Retainage could alter the amounts by 5%.
- Award amounts for companies that had gone out of business would not be reflected in the SCO data.

To further ensure whether the differences were due to non-utilization or non-payment of HUB contractors, the campuses were directed to review their method of tracking HUB payments, as well as comparing their numbers to the DOA report on a regular basis. If notable differences were identified, the campuses were asked to explain to UNC-GA those differences. The campuses had also been asked to document and report to UNC-GA any HUB contractor issues, including the status and resolution of each issue, where applicable.

## Next Steps

The Finance Division was working on several initiatives to reduce and minimize issues with HUB contractors.

- 1. Quarterly review of Department of Administration HUB reports by UNC-GA and by the campuses.
- 2. Periodic review by random sampling of pay applications from campuses.
- 3. Improve tracking of reported payment issues and associated subcontractors and general contractors.
- 4. An audit of payments to contractors, particularly HUB contractors, would be performed on Bond projects by an outside auditing firm. The firm would be selected through the RFP process.
- 5. Continued investigations by UNC-GA's Finance and Legal Divisions of all documented allegations of wrongdoings against HUB contractors.
- 6. Simplify and clarify the dispute resolution process to include:
  - Map / flowchart process for non-payment procedures for subcontractors;
  - Increase education opportunities for subcontractors concerning lien waivers and the claims process;
  - Develop "frequently asked questions" on handling non-payment; provide to subcontractors and post on UNC-GA's website;
  - Develop "understanding contracts" educational seminars at local resource centers; and
  - Develop "pre-dispute" services and educational seminars at local resource centers.
- 7. Recommend to the State Construction Office modifications to the pay application affidavit process to improve tracing of HUB payments.
- 8. Enforce proper process for completion of pay applications with prime contractors.

9. Host a HUB Coordinators working session improvements to existing procedures.	to share best practices and gather recommendations on
This item was discussed at length and questions were answered.	
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned.	
Mr. Bradley T. Adcock	Ms. Peaches G. Blank
Chair of the Committee	Secretary of the Committee
on Budget and Finance	on Budget and Finance

Adopted 09/13/91 Amended 09/09/94 Amended 09/08/95 Amended 09/13/96 Amended 05/22/97 Amended 11/13/98 Amended 08/13/99 Amended 02/13/04<sup>1</sup> Amended 11/12/04 Amended 06/08/07

# Selection Criteria and Operating Instructions for Special Responsibility Constituent Institutions

A. Achieving and Retaining Status as a Special Responsibility Constituent Institution

Management Staffing Standards and Internal Controls and Safeguards

1. Responsibilities of Special Responsibility Constituent Institutions

The following standards and safeguards must be met and maintained in order to receive and retain the designation as a special responsibility constituent institution.

- a. The Chancellor/Executive Director must assume personal responsibility and also establish the appropriate administrative and internal control procedures for carrying out the special delegations of authority. In this regard, the Chancellor/Executive Director must certify that the administrative capability on campus in the areas of budgeting and accounting, personnel, and purchasing, as noted in b., c., and d. below, are sufficient to carry out the increased flexibility being granted.
- b. The capability of the staff and the system of budgeting, accounting and internal controls must be sufficient to administer the increased budget flexibility given to the designated institutions.
- c. The personnel capacity, which must be exercised under the direction of appropriate administrative officials, must be available on campus to evaluate jobs, classify positions appropriately, set compensation properly, and carry out the related functions of position management at the level of authority provided by the delegation.
- d. The on-campus expertise must be available to purchase properly the equipment, supplies, and other goods and services for the institution up to the benchmark level established by the Board of Governors for the institution pursuant to G.S. 116-31.10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> On February 13, 2004, the Board placed into policy changes to these criteria that it had adopted on 2/08/02 and 9/12/03.

e. The institution must maintain its financial records in such a manner that there are no significant findings in the annual financial audit reports, special reports, electronic data processing reports, performance reports, management letters, or any other report issued by the State Auditor's Office.

## f. [Repealed]

- g. Chancellors/Executive Director may delegate the authority for approving departmental plans for expenditures authorized under budget flexibility, but may not delegate the authority below the level of the appropriate Vice Chancellor.
- h. The Chancellors/Executive Director shall review an annual internal audit report on expenditures authorized under budget flexibility.
- i. The Chancellor shall ensure that procedures and support systems are in place to provide for the effective operation and maintenance of all existing campus buildings and infrastructure. New facilities financed by the 2000 Higher Education Bond Program or any other sources of funds shall become a part of an effective program of preventive maintenance from the time that construction is completed. Procedures shall also be in place to assure proper accountability and safeguarding of all fixed assets and other items purchased by the University.

## 2. Responsibilities of the President and the Board of Governors

The President is directed to establish the administrative procedures necessary to carry out the following rules:

- a. The President and her/his staff shall review the annual financial audit reports, special reports, electronic data processing reports, performance reports, management letters, or any other report issued by the State Auditor's Office for each special responsibility constituent institution.
- b. The President shall take immediate action regarding reported weaknesses in the internal control structure, deficiencies in the accounting records, and noncompliance with rules and regulations. In any instance where significant findings are identified, the President shall notify the Chancellor/Executive Director of the particular special responsibility constituent institution that the institution must make satisfactory progress in resolving the findings, as determined by the President of The University, after consultation with the State Auditor, within a three-month period commencing with the date of receipt of the published financial audit report, any other audit report, or management letter.
- c. If satisfactory progress is not made within a three-month period, the President shall recommend to the Board of Governors at its next meeting that the designation of the particular institution as a special responsibility constituent institution be terminated until such time as the exceptions are resolved to the satisfaction of the President of The University of North Carolina, after consultation with the State Auditor.

However, once the designation as a special responsibility constituent institution has been withdrawn by the Board of Governors, reinstatement may not be effective until the beginning of the following fiscal year at the earliest.

- d. Any actions taken by the Board of Governors with respect to withdrawal or reinstatement of an institution's status as a special responsibility constituent institution shall be reported immediately to the Joint Legislative Education Oversight Committee.
- e. The President and her/his staff, after consultation with the State Auditor, shall review and consult with the Director of the Office of State Personnel and the Director of the Division of State Purchasing and Contracts in ascertaining whether or not a constituent institution has the management staff and internal financial controls to administer the additional authorities authorized under G.S. 116-30.2, 116-30.4, and 116-31.10. Such review and consultation must take place no less frequently than once each biennium.

## f. [Repealed]

## B. Budget Administration

- 1. Appropriations to Special Responsibility Constituent Institutions
  - a. All General Fund appropriations made by the General Assembly for continuing operations of a special responsibility constituent institution of The University of North Carolina shall be made in the form of a single sum to each budget code of the institution for each year of the fiscal period for which the appropriations are being made.
  - b. Notwithstanding G.S. 143-23(al), G.S. 143-23 (a2), G.S. 143-23(a3), and G.S. 120-76(8), each special responsibility constituent institution may expend the General Fund monies so appropriated to it in the manner deemed by the Chancellor/Executive Director to be calculated to maintain and advance the programs and services of the institutions, consistent with the directives and policies of the Board of Governors including but not limited to the following:
    - 1. A current institutional expenditure plan for each budget code must be established and maintained under the direction of the Chancellor/Executive Director.
    - 2. No action shall be taken that would materially change the capability of the institution to carry out its educational mission as defined by the Board of Governors. The Board of Governors will retain program responsibility. No actions taken should have the effect of either establishing a new academic, research, or public service program or closing such a program without the specific approval by the Board. Reallocation of academic program resources should not be made to the extent that a particular existing program is seriously weakened or effectively discontinued, or a new activity not expressly authorized by the Board of Governors is initiated.

- Reallocations of interinstitutional program resources should not be made to the
  extent that campus participation in a particular program is materially weakened
  without specific approval by the Board.
- 4. No action should be taken which would have the effect of establishing a new community service or student financial aid program without specific approval by the Board of Governors.
- 5. Appropriations providing support for Distance Education/Extension degree credit instruction at off-campus locations cannot be reallocated for other purposes without specific approval by the Board of Governors.
- c. The quarterly allotment procedure established pursuant to G.S. 143–17 shall apply to the General Fund appropriations made for the current operations of each special responsibility constituent institution.
- d. All General Fund monies so appropriated to each special responsibility constituent institution shall be recorded, reported, and audited in the same manner as are General Fund appropriations to other constituent institutions.
- e. The preparation, presentation, and review of General Fund budget requests of special responsibility constituent institutions shall be conducted in the same manner as are requests of other constituent institutions.

## 2. Reversions and Carry-Forwards of Appropriations

Of the General Fund current operations appropriations credit balance remaining in each budget code of a special responsibility constituent institution, at the close of a fiscal year, any amount of the General Fund appropriations for that budget code, may be carried forward by the institution to the next fiscal year and may be used for one—time expenditures that will not impose additional financial obligations on the State. However, the amount carried forward under this section shall not exceed two and one—half percent (2 1/2%) of the General Fund appropriation. The Director of the Budget, under the authority set forth in G.S. 143-25, shall establish the General Fund current operations credit balance remaining in each budget code of each institution.

## C. Personnel Administration

The Chancellor of a special responsibility constituent institution, when he finds that to do so would help to maintain and advance the programs and services of the institution, may establish and abolish positions, acting in accordance with:

(1) State Personnel policies and procedures if these positions are subject to the State Personnel Act and if the institution is operating under the terms of a Performance Agreement or a Decentralization Agreement authorized under Chapter 126 of the General Statutes; or

(2) Policies and procedures of the Board of Governors if these positions are exempt from the State Personnel Act.

The results achieved by establishing and abolishing positions pursuant to the conditions set forth in subdivision (1) of this section shall be subject to postauditing by the Office of State Personnel.

With respect to personnel actions taken under subdivision (2) of this section, no action should have the effect of either establishing a new academic program or administrative unit or closing an existing academic or inter–institutional program or administrative unit. No action should be taken which permanently reduces the number or amount of Regular Term budgeted teaching positions supported by General Fund appropriations thereby changing the student–faculty ratio or the budgeted average teaching salary established by the Board of Governors.

Implementation of all personnel actions shall be subject to the availability of funds within the institution's current budget to fund the full annualized costs of these actions.

## D. Purchasing

Notwithstanding G.S. 143-53.1 or G.S. 143-53(a)(2), the expenditure benchmark for a special responsibility constituent institution with regard to competitive bid procedures and the bid value benchmark shall be an amount not greater than \$500,000. The Board shall set the benchmark for each institution from time to time. In setting an institution's benchmark, the Board shall consider the institution's overall capabilities including staff resources, purchasing compliance reviews, and audit reports. The Board shall also consult with the Director of the Division of Purchase and Contract and the Director of the Budget prior to setting the benchmark.

Institutions with an expenditure benchmark greater than \$250,000 but not greater than \$500,000 shall submit to the Division of Purchase and Contract for that Division's approval, or other action deemed necessary by the Division, a copy of all offers received and the institution's recommendation of award or other action. Notice of the Division's decision shall be sent to that institution. The institution shall then proceed with the award of contract or other action recommended by the Division.

The power and authority granted to the Board of Governors with regard to the acquisition, operation, maintenance and disposition of real and personal property and services shall be subject to, and exercised in accordance with, the provisions of Chapter 143 and 146 of the General Statues and related sections of the North Carolina Administrative Code, except when a purchase is being made that is not covered by a State term contract and either:

(1) The funds used to procure personal property or services are not moneys appropriated from the General Fund or received as tuition or, in the case of multiple fund sources, moneys appropriated from the General Fund or received as tuition do not exceed thirty percent (30%) of the total funds; or

(2) The funds used to procure personal property or services are contract and grant funds or, in the case of multiple fund sources, the contract and grant funds exceed fifty percent (50%) of the total funds.

When a special responsibility constituent institution procures personal property or services under condition (1) or (2) above, the special responsibility constituent institution is delegated the authority to procure the property or services without approval by the Board of Governors, and the requirements of Chapter 143, Article 3 shall apply, except the approval or oversight of the Secretary of Administration, the State Purchasing Officer, or the Board of Awards shall not be required, regardless of dollar value.

Special responsibility constituent institutions shall have the authority to purchase equipment, materials, supplies, and services from sources other than those certified by the Secretary of Administration on term contracts, subject to the following conditions:

- (1) The purchase price, including the cost of delivery, is less than the cost under the State term contract;
- (2) The items are the same or substantially similar in quality, service, and performance as items available under State term contracts;
- (3) The cost of the purchase shall not exceed the benchmark established under G. S. 116-31.10; and
- (4) The special responsibility constituent institution notifies the Department of Administration of purchases consistently being made under this provision so that State term contracts may be improved.

## E. Impact on Education

Each special responsibility constituent institution shall include in its institutional effectiveness plan those assessment measures that are determined by the Board to be measures that will assure some standard measure of student learning and development in general undergraduate education. The intent of this requirement is to measure the impact of G.S. 116–30.1 through G.S. 116–30.5, establishing and administering special responsibility constituent institutions, and their implementation on undergraduate student learning and development. The measures shall be taken from accountability reports to the Board and any other performance measures developed for this purpose by the Board.

# F. Reporting Requirements

## 1. Monthly Report

Each designated institution must prepare a monthly operating report for each budget code in the format of the current BD–701 report. The "Authorized Budget" included in this report, which may be changed under the direction of the Chancellor/Executive Director, will show the institution's current expenditure plan. The current Chart of Accounts will be used for reporting purposes.

- 2. [Repealed]
- 3.. [Repealed] Annual Report
- An annual report, and other reports as may be directed by the President, are required from each special responsibility constituent institution. The annual report must be submitted to the Office of the President by October 10 following fiscal year end, and shall include the following information:
  - a. an annual operating report in the same format as the monthly report described above
  - b. the impact on undergraduate student learning and development as demonstrated by the standard assessment measures related to this topic
  - c. fiscal savings
  - d. management initiatives undertaken
  - e. increased efficiency and effectiveness achieved, including institutional purchases under the expenditure benchmark established by the Board of Governors for the institution
  - f. other outcomes made possible by the flexibility provided
  - g. documentation of any reallocation of resources which distinguishes between onetime and permanent transfers, including the actual uses of funds reallocated during the fiscal year as a result of lapsed salaries
  - h. the actual uses of appropriations carried forward from the previous fiscal year
  - i. any additional costs incurred
  - j. a schedule of positions established and positions abolished
  - k. list of positions that were vacant for more than 9 months during the fiscal year and an explanation for the length of the vacancy
  - l. compliance certification letter to the President from each SRCI Chancellor/Executive Director

Each institution must establish the administrative procedures necessary to accumulate this information for reporting purposes.